Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-6-2017

State v. Rubio Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44633

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

While on misdemeanor probation, Joseph Roman Rubio was ordered to perform community service as a condition of DUI court. Mr. Rubio allegedly forged his community service timecard before turning it in to the community service desk in Kootenai County. Instead of filing a motion for a probation violation, however, the State charged Mr. Rubio with a felony for filing a false instrument in violation of Idaho Code section 18-3203. Mr. Rubio contended from the start of the proceedings that there was insufficient evidence to prosecute him under the statute. After a jury trial, however, Mr. Rubio was found guilty. On appeal, he asserts that the district court erred when it denied his motion to dismiss the information, and when it denied his motion for a judgment of acquittal. He also asserts the district court erred when it incorrectly instructed the jury.

Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings

In September of 2015, Mr. Rubio was ordered to complete 56 hours of community service as a condition of DUI Court. (R., p.22.) Mr. Rubio performed his community service at the St. Vincent De Paul Thrift Store in Coeur d'Alene. (R., p.23.) In December of 2015, however, the State filed a complaint alleging that Mr. Rubio had committed the crime of filing a false instrument, under I.C. § 18-3203, by submitting a false or forged community service timecard. (R., pp.26-27.)

At the preliminary hearing, Lacy Lovejoy—the volunteer coordinator at St. Vincent's—testified, along with Kim Hushman, who was a "float clerk" in the district court and filled in as needed at the community service desk. (4/1/16 Tr., p.6, Ls.2-10, p.32, L.7 – p.33, L.1.) Based on their testimony, the magistrate court admitted Plaintiffs Exhibits 1 and 2, which were

respectively copies of the timecard in question, and the "blue sheet"—the Kootenai County Community Service desk internal document that contained Mr. Rubio's name, case number, how many hours he was assigned to work, and the deadline for completing those hours. (Plaintiff's Exhibits 1 and 2; 4/1/16 Tr., p.19, L.6 – p.39, L.7.) The "blue sheet" was based on the judgment in the case.¹ (4/1/16 Tr., p.34, L.15 – p.35, L.12.)

At the close of testimony, Mr. Rubio's counsel argued that there was insufficient evidence to show that Mr. Rubio could be prosecuted under the statute. The statute provides:

Every person who knowingly procures or offers any false or forged instrument to be filed, registered or recorded in any public office within this state, which instrument, if genuine, might be filed, or registered, or recorded under any law of this state, or of the United States, is guilty of a felony.

I.C. § 18-3203. Counsel argued that the evidence did not establish probable cause that the elements of the statute were violated because Mr. Rubio's community service timecard was not an instrument that would be filed in a public office under any law. (4/1/16 Tr., p.54, L.25 – p.57, L.1.) He argued that the timecard did not meet the definition of an "instrument" because that term identified formal legal documents such as deeds or marriage certificates, and there was no support in the Idaho Code for labeling the timecard an instrument as that term was used in the statute. (4/1/16 Tr., p.54, L.25 – p.55, L.10.) He also argued that the use of the terms "registered or recorded" indicated "what the framers of this statute thought would be an instrument." (4/1/16 Tr., p.55, Ls.11-16.) He went on to argue that Mr. Rubio did not "file" the timecard as

¹ At the trial, Ms. Hushman confirmed that the judgment in this case was the court order for community service. (7/18/16 Tr. Vol. I, p.88, Ls.9-13.) These same documents were in evidence at the trial. However, there were two sides to the timecard, and the front side of the timecard was not admitted until the trial. (4/1/16 Tr., p.30, L.21 – p.31, L.8.) The date and time stamps on the respective documents show this. (Plaintiff's Exhibits 1 and 2).

that term is legally defined but simply turned in his community service hours. (4/1/16 Tr., p.56, Ls.7-16.) He also asked the magistrate court what law, code, or statute the timecard would be filed under. (4/1/16 Tr., p.56, Ls.17-21.) He acknowledged that there was a court order regarding the community service, but argued there was a difference between a court order and a law, and there was no law under which Mr. Rubio would have filed his timecard. (4/1/16 Tr., p.56, L.17 – p.57, L.15.)

At the end of the hearing, the magistrate court stated, "I do recognize those issues raised as to some of the *not defined terms; that is, instrument filed and also the operation of under the law.* However, I would see in the commonsense understanding that this would meet the commonsense definitions." (4/1/16 Tr., p.59, Ls.1-5 (emphasis added).) Thus, it bound the case over to district court. (4/1/16 Tr., p.59, Ls.6-9; R., p.45.) The State then filed an information charging Mr. Rubio with filing a false instrument. (R., pp.46-47.) Mr. Rubio pleaded not guilty. (R., p.53, 4/20/16 Tr., p.10, Ls.6-24.)

Prior to trial, Mr. Rubio filed a motion to dismiss the information pursuant to I.C. § 19-815A and I.C.R. 5.1. (R., pp.67-73.) In that motion, he argued that the timecard was not an instrument that was required to be filed, registered, or recorded under any law, and he was ordered by the court to complete community service "as a means of punishment, not as part of a contractual obligation." (R., p.67.) He acknowledged that he signed a Kootenai County District Court Community Service Contract, which stated he would maintain a record of the hours he worked and report them to the community service office but argued that the statute did not apply because a community service timecard was not an "instrument," and Mr. Rubio was not required to file the timecard under any law. (R., pp.69-72.)

At the hearing on the motion, Mr. Rubio's counsel asked the district court to take judicial notice of the transcript from the preliminary hearing. (6/28/16 Tr., p.4, L.22 – p.5, L.1.) She further developed the argument as to why the timecard was not an instrument, and she argued that there was no law under which Mr. Rubio would file his timecard. (6/28/16 Tr., p.5, Ls.2-24, p.21, Ls.21-24.) She pointed out that the definitions of these terms would be an issue at trial also and asserted the State had failed to prove there was probable cause to establish the required elements at the preliminary hearing, and thus the district court should dismiss. (6/28/16 Tr., p.22, Ls.1-7.)

The district court denied the motion but did not issue a written order. (6/28/16 Tr., p.22, Ls.8-11.) It held that there was "nothing magic about a filing stamp," and a time and date stamp was not required for something to be considered "filed." (6/28/16 Tr., p.22, Ls.19-22.) It went on to state, "I think a reasonable interpretation of the word 'filed' is that if you submit something to really any deputy clerk here in this building, you have filed—with the intent for it to be used in your case . . . you've filed something." (6/28/16 Tr., p.22, L.25 – p.23, L.4.) It also held that the community service desk was a public office. (6/28/16 Tr., p.23, Ls.5-13.) Notably, when discussing this, the district court said, "The legal significance is . . . Mr. Rubio's assertion that he's doing what he's required by law, by court order to do" (6/28/16 Tr., p.23, Ls.13-15.)

Counsel for Mr. Rubio asked the district court to reconsider denying the motion because, at the preliminary hearing, the State did not prove the timecard was an "instrument" that was to be "filed, registered, or recorded" under the statute. (6/28/16 Tr., p.24, Ls.6-16.) The district court held that the community service timecard met the definition of an instrument. (6/28/16 Tr., p.24, Ls.17-19.) It stated, "An instrument defines rights, duties, entitlements or liabilities such as contract, will, promissory note or share certificate, and obviously this time card is not a

contract, will, promissory note or share certificate, but those aren't listed in exclusion; those are only examples." (6/28/16 Tr., p.24, L.19 – p.25, L1.) It went on to say,

This [timecard] is an instrument that defines rights, duties, entitlements or liabilities. Your client had a duty, a liability if you want to phrase it that way, to do his community service, and he is presenting allegedly . . . a document that he's purporting demonstrates he performed part of that community service and allegedly that was forged, so I don't know how this can be interpreted as anything other than an instrument. It deals with Mr. Rubio's rights, duties, entitlements, liabilities vis-à-vis the State of Idaho and the court order.

(6/28/16 Tr., p.25, Ls.2-12.)

At that point, Mr. Rubio's counsel said, "I'm just . . . further raising the issue that the State didn't prove that there's any law that required that time card to be registered,³ and if it's going to be an argument that the court ordered it . . . there's different remedies for that." (6/28/16 Tr., p.25, Ls.13-19.) The district court said, "Well, *I'm not exactly understanding what you're saying*, but the motion to reconsider is denied." (6/28/16 Tr., p.25, Ls.20-22 (emphasis added).)

At the trial,⁴ the State called Ms. Lovejoy and Ms. Hushman again, along with one of Mr. Rubio's employers, and the police officer who investigated the alleged crime. (*See* 7/18/16 Tr., Vols. I and II generally.)⁵ Much like the preliminary hearing, the testimony of Ms. Lovejoy and Ms. Hushman focused on what happened to make them suspect that Mr. Rubio had forged

² The district court used the definition from *Steel Farms, Inc. v. Croft & Reed, Inc.* 154 Idaho 259, 265 (2012). There, this Court cited to the Black's Law Dictionary definition of the term.

³ It appears counsel intended to say "filed, registered, or recorded" as that was the argument in the motion to dismiss. (R., p.72.)

⁴ Judge Mitchell presided over the motion to dismiss hearing, but Judge Simpson presided over the trial.

⁵ The trial took place over two days: July 18, 2016 and July 19, 2016. Undersigned counsel received two bound volumes of the transcript for the first day. The first volume contained the proceedings prior to the lunch recess; the second contained the proceedings after lunch. As such, they will be referred to as "Vol. I" and "Vol. II."

his timecard, and the process by which community service hours were recorded. (7/18/16 Tr. Vol. I, p.83, L.9 – p.122, L.8, 7/18/16 Tr. Vol II, p.5, L.18 – p.31, L.24.) Mr. Rubio's employer, Mr. Leedy, testified regarding when he recalled working with Mr. Rubio because some of the dates on his community service timecard were allegedly dates Mr. Rubio had worked with Mr. Leedy. (7/18/16 Tr. Vol. II, p.32, L.9 – p.45, L.11.) Coeur d'Alene Police Officer Knoll also testified about his interrogation of Mr. Rubio. (7/18/16 Tr. Vol. II, p.46, L.1 – p.57, L.3.) Officer Knoll interrogated Mr. Rubio on video, and the jury watched the video. (Plaintiff's Exhibit 3; 6/28/16 Tr. Vol. II, p.50, L.16 – p.51, L.7.) Mr. Rubio also testified. (7/18/16 Tr. Vol. II, p.65, L.18 – p.85, L.23.)

After the State rested, Mr. Rubio's counsel moved for a judgment of acquittal pursuant to Idaho Criminal Rule 29. (7/18/16 Tr. Vol. II, p.59, Ls.1-5.) She argued that the State had not met its burden to prove the timecard was an instrument, and there was no testimony or evidence presented to that effect. (7/18/16 Tr. Vol. II, p.59, Ls.11-22.) She also argued that the State had not met its burden to prove that the timecard was false or forged, or that the community service office was a public office within the meaning of the statute. (7/18/16 Tr. Vol. II, p.59, L.23 – p.60, L.13.) Finally, she pointed out that the State had not presented any evidence—in the form of a statute or otherwise—to prove that the timecard itself was required to be filed under any law. (7/18/16 Tr. Vol. II, p.60, L.14 – p.61, L.13.)

The State argued that, because Judge Mitchell held—in deciding the motion to dismiss—that the timecard was an instrument that could be filed under the law of the State of Idaho, and the community service desk was a public office, those issues were "matters for the jury to be instructed on" as they were "legal matters." (7/18/16 Tr. Vol. II, p.61, L.17 – p.62, L.1.) The State also argued that the statute did not indicate that the timecard was "required to be filed"

because the statute said, "might be filed, registered, and recorded." (7/18/16 Tr. Vol. II, p.62, Ls.22-25.) Based on this language, the State argued that this was "not an element." (7/18/16 Tr. Vol. II, p.62, L.24.)

In response to the State's comment regarding "legal matters," Mr. Rubio's counsel pointed out that, even in a controlled substance case, the State needs to prove that the substance is controlled and illegal under the laws of Idaho. (7/18/16 Tr. Vol. II, p.63, Ls.13-18.) The district court said,

I'm at somewhat of a disadvantage having not been there at the hearing, but I did review the minutes of the decision by Judge Mitchell. And he specifically found . . . that the community service office is a public office. Once you deliver a document to the deputy clerk, you know it will be used. He further found that [the] community service card was an instrument that defines a liability and duty to do community service.

(7/18/16 Tr. Vol. II, p.64, Ls.12-20.) With no further analysis, the district court denied the Rule 29 motion. (7/18/16 Tr. Vol. II, p.64, L.21.)

At the jury instruction conference, Mr. Rubio's counsel strenuously objected to the State's proposed instruction that read, "Under Idaho law, a community Service timecard, when filed in a court case, is an instrument." (R., p.93; 7/18/16 Tr. Vol. II, p.91, Ls.4-25.) She argued that no law supported that, but the district court said, because Judge Mitchell found that to be true, "It makes it the law of the case for record, and *all of our hands are tied.*" (7/18/16 Tr. Vol. II, p.92, Ls.2-5 (emphasis added).) Counsel pointed out that her requested instruction on the issue gave the jury the definition of an instrument from Black's Law Dictionary, so the jury could determine whether it met that definition.⁶ (7/18/16 Tr., p.91, Ls.14-18.) Counsel also

7

⁶ Defense counsel's proposed instructions were apparently not made a part of the record. Undersigned counsel requested a copy of those instructions from the district court on June 22, 2017, and again on July 5, 2017, but the district court has not provided them as of yet. However, defense counsel's arguments on the record are sufficient to show the nature of her requests.

objected to the State's proposed jury instructions that read, "Under Idaho law, the Kootenai County community service desk is a public office" and "Under Idaho law, proof of completion of community service, when such service is done pursuant to a court order, may be filed under the law of the State of Idaho." (R., pp.94-95; 7/18/16 Tr., p.92, L.18 – p.93, L.11.) Despite counsel's objections, and her renewed objections the following day, the district court gave those jury instructions. (R., pp.144-46; 7/19/16 Tr., p.9, Ls.11-18.) It stated, "Basically the court's position is I'm constrained by the law of the case, prior rulings by Judge Mitchell as to 16, 17, and 18." (7/19/16 Tr., p.4, Ls.5-10.)

Subsequently, the jury found Mr. Rubio guilty. (R., p.156.) The district court imposed a sentence of three years, with one and one-half years fixed, but retained jurisdiction. (R., pp.167-68.) Mr. Rubio filed a Notice of Appeal timely from the district court's judgment of conviction. (R., pp.170-73.)

<u>ISSUES</u>

- 1. Did the district court err in denying Mr. Rubio's motion to dismiss because a community service timecard is not an instrument that might be filed under any law; therefore, there was no probable cause to believe Mr. Rubio committed the crime of offering a false or forged instrument for record?
- 2. Did the district court err when it denied Mr. Rubio's Rule 29 motion for judgment of acquittal?
- 3. Did the district court err by incorrectly instructing the jury and reducing the State's burden of proof to prove all the elements?

ARGUMENT

I.

The District Court Erred In Denying Mr. Rubio's Motion To Dismiss Because A Community Service Timecard Is Not An Instrument That Might Be Filed Under Any Law; Therefore, There Was No Probable Cause To Believe Mr. Rubio Committed The Crime Of Filing A False Instrument

A. Introduction

There was insufficient evidence to show that Mr. Rubio committed the crime of offering a false or forged instrument as defined in I.C. § 18-3203 by allegedly filing a forged community service timecard. Therefore, the district court erred when it denied Mr. Rubio's motion to dismiss.

B. There Was Not Substantial Evidence Upon Every Element To Establish Probable Cause
That Mr. Rubio Committed The Crime Of Offering False Or Forged Instrument For
Record Under I.C. § 18-3203

A defendant held to answer a criminal charge after a preliminary hearing may challenge that finding by filing a motion to dismiss in the district court. I.C. § 19-815A. The purpose of a preliminary hearing is to "determine if an offense has been committed, and further if there is probable cause to believe that the crime was committed by the accused." *State* v. *Schall*, 157 Idaho 488, 491 (2014) (citation omitted). A finding of probable cause to bind the case over to the district court must "be based upon substantial evidence upon every material element of the offense charged." I.C.R. 5.1(b) The interpretation of a statute is a question of law subject to *de novo* review. *State v. Schulz*, 151 Idaho 863, 865 (2011).

1. The District Court Erred In Finding That The Timecard Was An Instrument

In finding that Mr. Rubio's community service timecard was an instrument, the district court failed to follow this Court's definition of "instrument," defied the plain meaning of

"instrument," and failed to follow this Court's rules for proper statutory construction. This Court applies the following principles of statutory interpretation:

The objective of statutory interpretation is to derive the intent of the legislative body that adopted the act. Statutory interpretation begins with the literal language of the statute. Provisions should not be read in isolation, but must be interpreted in the context of the entire document. The statute should be considered as a whole, and words should be given their plain, usual, and ordinary meanings. It should be noted that the Court must give effect to all the words and provisions of the statute so that none will be void, superfluous, or redundant. When the statutory language is unambiguous, the clearly expressed intent of the legislative body must be given effect, and the Court need not consider rules of statutory construction.

Id. at 866-67 (citation omitted).

a. The Timecard Was Not An Instrument Because It Did Not "Define Any Rights, Duties, Entitlements, Or Liabilities," Which Is The Plain Meaning Of The Term "Instrument" Used By This Court

The district court's holding that Mr. Rubio's community service timecard was an "instrument" as intended by the legislature in Idaho Code § 18-3203 was error because it does not meet the plain, usual, and ordinary meaning of "instrument." This Court, in *Steel Farms*, *Inc. v. Croft & Reed, Inc.*, 154 Idaho 259, 265 (2012), has already adopted the Black's Law Dictionary definition of the term, and the district court failed to follow that definition.

Idaho Code § 18-3203 is entitled "Offering false or forged instrument for record" and reads as follows: "Every person who knowingly procures or offers any false or forged instrument to be filed, registered or recorded in any public office within this state, which instrument, if genuine, might be filed, or registered, or recorded under any law of this state, or of the United States, is guilty of a felony." Thus the State had the burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Rubio's timecard was an "instrument."

There is no definition of the term "instrument" in the statute. "Where the legislature has not provided a definition in the statute, terms in the statute are given their common, everyday

meanings." *State v. Yzaguirre*, 144 Idaho 471, 477–78 (2007) (citation omitted). The relevant ordinary definition of the term "instrument" is "a formal legal document (such as a deed, bond, or agreement)." Merriam-Webster, https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/instrument (last visited June 24, 2017).

This Court has adopted the legal dictionary definition of "instrument," as a "written legal document that defines rights, duties, entitlements, or liabilities such as a contract, will, promissory note, or share certificate." *Steel Farms, Inc.*, 154 Idaho at 265 (citing BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY). Mr. Rubio's timecard could not reasonably be construed to meet this definition.

The district court stated that the timecard "deals with Mr. Rubio's rights, duties, entitlements, liabilities vis-à-vis the State of Idaho and the court order." (6/28/16 Tr., p.25, Ls.9-12) (emphasis added). But this Court's definition specifies that an instrument is a legal document that "defines" such duties and liabilities, not as any writing that simply "deals with" duties and liabilities. *Id.*

Mr. Rubio's timecard was not a formal legal document, and it was nothing like a deed, bond, contract, will, promissory note, or share certificate. It did not even have his name on it. It also did not define anything. Nothing on the timecard outlined any duty or liability of Mr. Rubio. The timecard was simply used to track his hours; it did not define what those hours should be. The timecard was simply a form --- a grid, with columns for "Date," "Hours," "Sign.," and "Agency," and places for the supervisor's name and telephone number. (Plaintiff's Exhibit 1.)

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