Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-29-2017

State v. Rubio Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44633

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

ARGUMENT

I.

Because Rubio Was Convicted At Trial, The Appellate Court Will Not Examine The Sufficiency Of The Evidence Presented At The Preliminary Hearing

A. Introduction

Rubio argues the district court erred when it denied his motion to dismiss the case on the grounds that the state failed at the preliminary hearing to present sufficient evidence on all the elements of the crime. (See Appellant's brief, pp. 10-18.) Rubio's argument is misplaced. Rubio was convicted after a trial. This Court does not reexamine the sufficiency of preliminary hearing evidence where the defendant was convicted following a trial.

B. Standard Of Review

"When a defendant has been convicted following a fair trial, we will not examine, on appeal, the sufficiency of the evidence presented at a preliminary examination upon which a magistrate determined there was probable cause to bind the defendant-appellant over to district court for trial." State v. Maylett, 108 Idaho 671, 672, 701 P.2d 291, 292 (Ct. App. 1985) (citing State v. Mitchell, 104 Idaho 493, 660 P.2d 1336, cert. denied, 461 U.S. 934 (1983); State v. Pierce, 107 Idaho 96, 685 P.2d 837 (Ct. App. 1984)). "Moreover, where at a fair trial the accused is found guilty upon sufficient evidence to sustain the verdict, the judgment will not be overturned for defects in proof at the preliminary hearing." State v. Streeper, 113 Idaho 662, 664–65, 747 P.2d 71, 73–74 (1987) (citing State v. Walker, 109 Idaho 356, 707 P.2d 467 (Ct. App. 1985); State v. Mitchell, 104 Idaho 493, 660 P.2d 1336 (1983)).

C. <u>This Court Should Not Examine The Sufficiency Of The Preliminary Hearing</u> Evidence Because Rubio Was Convicted After A Trial

Following a preliminary hearing the magistrate found probable cause and bound Rubio's case over to district court. (4/1/16 Tr., p. 58, L. 24 - p. 59, L. 9; R. p. 45.) Rubio moved to dismiss the case pursuant to I.C. § 19-815A and I.C.R. 5.1 on the grounds the magistrate should not have found probable cause at the preliminary hearing that Rubio committed the crime. (R., pp. 67-73.) The district court denied Rubio's motion to dismiss. (6/28/16 Tr., p. 22, L. 8 - p. 23, L. 19.) After a jury trial, the jury found Rubio guilty of Filing a False Instrument and the district court entered judgment. (R., p. 156; 7/19/16 Tr., p. 45, L. 15 – p. 46, L. 17; R., pp. 167-169.) On appeal, Rubio argues the district court erred in denying his motion to dismiss because the state did not present sufficient evidence at the preliminary hearing to establish probable cause. Appellant's brief, pp. 10-18 ("There was not substantial evidence upon every element to establish probable cause that Mr. Rubio committed the crime of offering false or forged instrument for record under I.C. § 18-3203[.]" (capitalization altered)). Rubio argues there was insufficient evidence to support the magistrate's probable cause determination because Rubio's actions did not meet his claimed definition of the crime. Appellant's brief, pp. 10-18.)

Rubio's argument is misplaced because the appellate court will not examine the sufficiency of the preliminary hearing evidence when the defendant has been convicted at a fair trial. "When a defendant has been convicted following a fair trial, we will not examine, on appeal, the sufficiency of the evidence presented at a preliminary examination upon which a magistrate determined there was probable cause to bind the

defendant-appellant over to district court for trial." Maylett, 108 Idaho at 672, 701 P.2d at 292 (citations omitted). Therefore, this Court should not consider the sufficiency of preliminary hearing evidence and should instead consider only whether Rubio has met his appellate burden of showing error at trial.

II.

The State Concedes The District Court Improperly Instructed The Jury

A. Introduction

The district court instructed the jury that a community service timecard is an "instrument," that the Kootenai County Community Service desk is a "public office," and that proof of community service may be "filed under the law of the State of Idaho." (R., pp. 144-146.) Rubio argues these instructions, Instructions Nos. 16, 17, and 18, violated the province of the jury and were incorrect statements of the law. (See Appellant's brief, pp. 24-29.) The state concedes these instructions were erroneous and that Rubio is entitled to a new trial.

B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

Whether a jury was properly instructed is a question of law over which this Court exercises free review. State v. Severson, 147 Idaho 694, 710, 215 P.3d 414, 430 (2009). "An error in jury instructions only constitutes reversible error when the instruction misled the jury or prejudiced the party challenging the instruction." <u>Id.</u> (citation omitted). "If the instructions, 'considered as a whole, fairly and adequately present the issues and state the applicable law, then no error [has been] committed." <u>Id.</u> (citations omitted).

C. The District Court Incorrectly Instructed The Jury

"[T]he Due Process Clause protects the accused against conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged." In re Winshop, 397 U.S. 358, 364 (1970). In State v. Yermola, 159 Idaho 785, ____, 367 P.3d 180, 183-184 (2016), the Idaho Supreme Court held that "jury instructions are not evidence" and do not supplant the state's obligation to provide proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every element of the crime. The state concedes that Instructions Nos. 16, 17 and 18 were erroneous because they invaded the jury's function to determine whether the state proved certain elements of the crime.

Consistent with the language of I.C. § 18-3203 the district court instructed the jury that, to find Rubio guilty of filing a false instrument, the state must have proved each of the following elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

- 1. On or about November 20, 2015,
- 2. in the County of Kootenai, State of Idaho
- 3. the defendant, JOSEPH ROMAN RUBIO, knowingly procured or offered,
- 4. a false and/ or forged instrument,
- 5. to be filed in any public office within the state,
- 6. which instrument, if genuine, might be filed, or registered, or recorded under any law of this state, or of the United States.

If any of the above has not been proven beyond a reasonable doubt, you must find the defendant not guilty. If each of the above has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt, then you must find the defendant guilty.

(R., p. 143; 7/19/16 Tr., p. 8, L. 17- p. 9, L. 9.) The Court then instructed the jury, as a matter of law, regarding three elements of the crime. Specifically, Instruction No. 16 instructed the jury, "Under Idaho law, a community service timecard, when filed in a court case, is an instrument." (R., p. 144; 7/19/16 Tr., p. 9, Ls. 10-12.) Instruction No.

17 instructed the jury, "Under Idaho law, the Kootenai County community service desk is a public office." (R., p. 145; 7/19/16 Tr., p. 9, Ls. 13-14.) Instruction No. 18 stated, "Under Idaho law, proof of completion of community service, when such service is done pursuant to a court order, may be filed under the law of the State of Idaho." (R., p. 146; 7/19/16 Tr., p. 9, Ls. 15-18.) Because these instructions removed factual elements of the crime from the province of the jury and they were erroneous, see Yermola, supra, Rubio is entitled to a new trial.²

III.

The State Presented Sufficient Evidence To Sustain The Jury's Guilty Verdict If The Jury Had Been Properly Instructed

A. <u>Introduction</u>

The district court denied Rubio's Rule 29 motion to dismiss for lack of sufficient evidence. (7/18/16 Vol. II Tr., p. 64, Ls. 11-21.) On appeal Rubio argues the district court erred because the state failed to produce sufficient evidence to prove that Rubio's community service timecard was an "instrument" for purposes of the statute. (See Appellant's brief, pp. 19-23.) Contrary to his argument, the state presented sufficient evidence to prove that Rubio's community service timecard was an "instrument."

_

² The state recognizes Rubio has also challenged the sufficiency of the evidence supporting his conviction and that the remedy for any failure of proof could be an acquittal. Because, for the reasons set for in Section III, <u>infra</u>, the state presented evidence upon which a properly instructed jury could find all of the elements of the crime proven beyond a reasonable doubt, the state submits the appropriate remedy for the instructional error is a new trial.

B. Standard Of Review

The trial court may enter a judgment of acquittal pursuant to Idaho Criminal Rule 29 only if the court finds the evidence "insufficient to sustain a conviction of such offense or offenses." State v. Clark, 161 Idaho 372, 374, 386 P.3d 895, 897 (2016) (citing I.C.R. 29(a)). "In reviewing the denial of a motion for judgment of acquittal, the appellate court must independently consider the evidence in the record and determine whether a reasonable mind could conclude that the defendant's guilt as to such material evidence of the offense was proven beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>State v. Mercer</u>, 143 Idaho 108, 109, 138 P.3d 308, 309 (2006)). The Idaho Supreme Court explained the relevant inquiry:

The relevant inquiry is not whether this Court would find the defendant to be guilty beyond a reasonable doubt, but whether "after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, *any* rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt."

<u>Id.</u> (citing <u>State v. Adamcik</u>, 152 Idaho 445, 460, 272 P.3d 417, 432 (2012); <u>Jackson v.</u> Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319 (1979)).

Where the defendant presented evidence in defense after denial of the Rule 29 motion, the appellate court will conduct a review of all the evidence presented at trial to determine whether there was sufficient evidence to support the conviction. State v. Chacon, 145 Idaho 814, 818, 186 P.3d 670, 674 (2008) (citing State v. Watson, 99 Idaho 694, 698, 587 P.2d 835, 839 (1978); State v. Henninger, 130 Idaho 638, 640, 945 P.2d 864, 866 (Ct. App. 1997)).

The appellate court exercises free review over the application and construction of statutes. State v. Garner, 161 Idaho 708, 710-711, 390 P.3d 434, 436-437 (2017) (citing State v. Two Jinn, Inc., 148 Idaho 706, 708, 228 P.3d 387, 389 (2010). "When interpreting a statute, the Court begins with an examination of the literal words of the statute." Id. (quoting State v. Burnight, 132 Idaho 654, 659, 978 P.2d 214, 219 (1999)). "The language of the statute is to be given its plain, obvious and rational meaning." Id. (quoting Burnight, 132 Idaho at 659, 978 P.2d at 219). "Where the language of a statute is plain and unambiguous, this Court must give effect to the statute as written, without engaging in statutory construction." Id. (quoting Two Jinn, 148 Idaho at 708, 228 P.3d at 389).

C. <u>The State Presented Sufficient Evidence Upon Which A Properly Instructed Jury Could Have Found Rubio's Community Service Timecard Was An "Instrument" For Purposes Of I.C. § 18-3203</u>

Idaho Code § 18-3203 defines the crime of filing a false or forged instrument:

§ 18-3203. Offering false or forged instrument for record.

Every person who knowingly procures or offers any false or forged instrument to be filed, registered or recorded in any public office within this state, which instrument, if genuine, might be filed, or registered, or recorded under any law of this state, or of the United States, is guilty of a felony.

I.C. § 18-3203.

Rubio does not dispute that there was sufficient evidence to find that he submitted a forged community service timecard to the court clerk for filing in his criminal case file. Indeed, as set forth above, the evidence he did so is overwhelming. Rather, he contends the evidence was insufficient to show "that the community service timecard was an

'instrument,' that, 'if genuine, might have been filed under any law of the State of Idaho or the United States.'" (Appellant's brief, p. 19.)³

Rubio's argument fails. Viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact, properly instructed, could have found that Rubio's community service timecard was an "instrument," that, "if genuine, might have been filed under any law of the State of Idaho or the United States."

The term "instrument" is not defined by I.C. § 18-3203. The term "instrument" is defined in <u>Steel Farms v. Croft & Reed, Inc.</u>, 154 Idaho 259, 265, 297 P.3d 222, 228 (2012). (<u>See also 6/28/16 Tr.</u>, p. 24, L. 17 – p. 25, L. 12.) On appeal, Rubio adopts the Black's Law Dictionary definition for the term "instrument" that was used in <u>Steel Farms</u>. (<u>See Appellant's brief, pp. 27-28.</u>)

Steel Farms involved a real estate dispute regarding the terms of a written lease agreement with an option to purchase. See Steel Farms, 154 Idaho at 261-264, 297 P.3d at 224-227. The district court granted partial summary judgment ruling, in part, that a handwritten interlineation on the lease contract was insufficient to modify the contract

³ Rubio also argues the district court did not properly consider all of the elements of the crime when it denied his Rule 29 Motion. (See Appellant's brief, pp. 20-21 ("Indeed,

there is no indication that Judge Simpson applied the proper analysis in deciding the motion.").) However, the district court's reasoning regarding the Rule 29 motion is irrelevant on appeal. The appellate court does not review the district court's application of Rule 29, but instead "independently consider[s] the evidence in the record and determine[s] whether a reasonable mind could conclude that the defendant's guilt as to such material evidence of the offense was proven beyond a reasonable doubt." Clark, 161 Idaho at 374, 386 P.3d at 897. The district court's rationale for denying Rubio's Rule 29 motion does not matter to this court's independent consideration of the evidence in the record.

because it did not satisfy the lease's merger clause. <u>Id.</u> at 265-266, 297 P.3d at 228-229. The lease's merger clause stated that the lease agreement could only be modified by "an instrument in writing" signed by all of the parties. <u>Id.</u> The issue before the Supreme Court was whether the handwritten interlineation on the original lease contract was sufficient to satisfy the merger clause, or if the merger clause required an instrument that was physically separate from the original. <u>Id.</u> The Court held that the merger clause did not require a separate physical document:

Thus the issue is whether an amendment must appear in an instrument physically separate from the original. We hold that it need not. An instrument is a "written legal document that defines rights, duties, entitlements, or liabilities, such as a contract, will, promissory note, or share certificate." *Black's Law Dictionary* 869 (9th ed. 2009). A handwritten interlineation inscribed upon an existing contract appears on a written instrument. Therefore, under the circumstances set forth by the merger clause to which the parties agreed, Mathews' interlineated amendment could be effective.

<u>Id.</u>

Thus, <u>Steel Farms</u> defines an "instrument" as a "written legal document that defines rights, duties, entitlements, or liabilities, such as a contract, will, promissory note, or share certificate." <u>Id.</u> The evidence in his case was sufficient to show the community service timecard Rubio forged and submitted to the court clerk for filing in his probationer's case file met this definition.

Under Idaho law, a court can order a probationer to perform certain tasks. <u>See e.g.</u> I.C. § 19-2601(2) (the district court "may place the defendant on probation under such terms and conditions as it deems necessary and appropriate"). If a probationer fails to complete those tasks, the court can revoke probation and execute the underlying sentence. <u>See e.g. State v. Marks</u>, 116 Idaho 976, 977-978, 783 P.2d 315, 316-317 (1989)

(court can order the suspended sentence to be executed if probationer violates the terms of probation); I.C. § 20-222(2). Rubio was court-ordered pursuant to this legal authority to complete 56 hours of community service. (7/18/16 Vol. II Tr., p. 48, Ls. 8-18, p. 67, Ls. 6-12, p. 74, Ls. 3-24.)

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